1976

# State of Utah v. Lawrence H. Allmendinger : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 2, 1975 appellant entered a plea of not guilty in the District Court of the Third Judicial District in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, to an information charging him with Unlawful Distribution for Value of a Controlled Substance (R.2-3). On June 2, 1975 appellant entered a plea of guilty to the lesser and included offense in the information of Unlawful Possession of a Controlled Substance, which under Utah Code Annotated §58-37-8(2)(b)(i) (as amended 1972), carries a penalty of not more than \$299 or imprisonment in the county jail for not more than six months. (R.9)

On June 9, 1975, the Court suspended imposition of sentence and placed the appellant on probation for one year. (R.10)

On March 4, 1976, Judge Bryant H. Croft signed an order requiring the defendant to appear and show cause why his probation should not be revoked. (R. 11) This order came almost nine months after the order placing appellant on probation.

On March 17, 1976, counsel for appellant filed a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction (R.29) and on March 30, 1976 the Court heard arguments on the motion (R.30). Both sides submitted memoranda and the Court, by memorandum decision of April 19, 1976, denied appellant's motion. It is this decision from which appellant pursues this appeal.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

WHERE THERE IS NO STATUTORY AUTHORITY FOR EXTENDING A PROBATIONARY PERIOD BEYOND THE MAXIMUM LIMITS FOR AN OFFENSE, THE COURT RETAINS JURISDICTION FOR ONLY THE PERIOD OF THE MAXIMUM SENTENCE AND CANNOT THEREAFTER TERMINATE THE PROBATION.

Utah Code Annotated §77-35-17, (1953) authorizes Utah courts to stay imposition or execution of a criminal sentence but does not specify the length of time for which a commitment may be stayed and the person placed on probation. Other than short stays for specified purposes, the only stays contemplated are those under that statute,<sup>1</sup> which provides:

"Upon a plea of guilty or conviction of any crime or offense, if it appears compatible with the public interest, the court having jurisdiction may suspend the imposition or the execution of sentence and may place the defendant on probation for such period of time as the court shall determine.

The court may subsequently increase or decrease the probation period, and may revoke or modify any condition of probation. While on probation, the defendant may be required to pay, in one or several sums, any fine imposed at the time being placed on probation; may be required to make restitution or reparation to the aggrieved party or parties for the actual damages or losses caused by the offense to which the defendant has pleaded guilty or for which conviction was had; and may be required to provide for the support of his wife or others for whose support he may be legally liable. Where it appears to the court from the report of the probation agent in charge of the defendant, or otherwise, that the defendant has complied with the conditions of such probation, the court may if it be compatible with the public interest either upon motion of the district attorney or of its own motion terminate the sentence or set aside the plea of guilty or conviction of the defendant, and dismiss the action and discharge the defendant."

---

1. McPhie v. Turner, 10 Utah 2d 237, P. 2d 91 (1960).

The Utah Supreme Court has not ruled directly on the issue of whether a court may impose probation for a period longer than the maximum sentence allowed. There is ample authority from other jurisdictions, however, in support of Defendant's contention that where the statute authorizing probation fails to specify the maximum period of probation to which a person may be subjected, the maximum period allowed is the maximum sentence of imprisonment which could have been imposed. The general rule is stated in 21 Am. Jur. 2d Criminal Law §555:

"Where the suspension of imposition of sentence is authorized, the court does not lose jurisdiction of the case and it may, after such suspension pronounce sentence at any time provided the maximum period for which sentence could have been imposed or probation granted has not elapsed." (emphasis added).

The most recent pronouncement on the issue comes from the New Mexico Court of Appeals in State v. Lard, 86 N.M. 71, 519 P.2d 307 (1974). In Lard the defendant attacked the propriety of the enhanced sentence directed by the lower court. Under New Mexico law a sentence may be enhanced according to a specific statute provided for such due to defendant's prior record. Defendant contended that the enhancement provision was improperly applied. The court decided against the defendant on this issue but stated in dicta the general rule that . . . "

"The total length of a deferred or suspended sentence, or the time served on parole, cannot exceed the maximum authorized sentence for the crime involved." (emphasis added) 519 P.2d at

The Idaho Supreme Court had considered the identical question presented there in Ex Parte Medley, 73 Idaho 474, 253 P.2d 794 (1953). In that case, the court was dealing with a statute



similar to Utah Code Annotated, §77-35-17. The Idaho statute provided:

"Whenever any person shall have been convicted or enter a plea of guilty in any District Court of this State of Idaho, of or to any crime against the Laws of the State, except those of treason or murder, the court may in its discretion, commute the sentence, confine the defendants in the county jail, or if the defendant is of proper age in the State Industrial School, suspend the execution of the judgment, or withhold judgment on such terms and for such time as it may prescribe and may put the defendant on probation in charge of some proper person selected and designated by this court for that purpose and make such orders related thereto as the court in its sound discretion deems necessary and expedient."

(emphasis added) Idaho Code §19-2601,  
(as amended 1949).

Notwithstanding statutory language allowing the court to order probation for "such time as it may prescribe" (identical to Utah's statute), the Idaho Supreme Court stated at 799:

"The period of probation could have been for the maximum period for which petitioner might have been imprisoned or for a lesser, but not for a greater period."

(emphasis added) 253 P.2d at 800.

The Idaho Supreme Court recently reaffirmed Ex Parte Medley in its holding in State v. Sandoval, 92 Idaho 853, 452 P.2d 350 (1969). In Sandoval appellant argued that one condition of probation constituted cruel and unusual punishment. In dismissing the Appellant's contention the court noted prior holdings concerning probation and stated:

"The period of probation may last as long as the maximum period for which defendant might have been imprisoned."

452 P.2d at 358.

The Supreme Court of Kansas had also ruled that a judge may parole persons as he sees fit but he has no power to extend the conditions of the parole beyond the term of the sentence which could have been imposed. The Court held In re Carroll, 91 Kan. 395, 137 P.975 (1914) that where petitioners had been sentenced to six months in jail (the maximum penalty) and placed on parole by the sentencing judge for two years, the judge was not authorized to extend the term of parole beyond a maximum sentence. In language oft-quoted since this 1914 decision, the court stated:

"But is there no limit to the period of parole? Can it have been the purpose of the legislature that a police judge, having imposed a sentence of imprisonment for ten days, can issue a parole upon the condition that the paroled person shall be under surveillance for ten years, or even longer and subject to be committed at any time for a violation of parole? It is true the statute provides that the parole shall be granted upon such conditions as the police judge may see fit to impose, but the view of the court is that it was not the legislative intent that the parole period might be indefinitely extended . . . Although the statute . . . does not expressly declare a limit, one is doubtless contemplated and, since provision is made for imprisonment, that should be regarded as the limit of time for the termination of a parole and the absolute discharge of the paroled person. It is argued that a parole is a matter of grace and discretion but could it be regarded as a gracious act to hold over the head of a convicted person the unexecuted sentence for a life with the uncertainty that he might be recommitted to prison without notice at any time when the police judge chose to order it?  
137 P. at 977.

In a situation similar to the case at bar, the Oklahoma Supreme Court ruled in 1925 that a judgment could be suspended only for the length of time of the maximum sentence. In Ex Parte Eaton,

29 O. Cr. 275, 233 P. 781 (1925) the Court was dealing with a statute similar to the Utah statute presently in issue. The Oklahoma statute did not specify a period for which a person's sentence could be suspended in lieu of probation or parole. The statute stated only that at any time during "pendency of the judgment" the stay could be revoked. The Court held that the judgment was only pending for the maximum period for which the person could be sentenced because: "It was certainly not the intention of the lawmakers to hold the sentence over the head of a person paroled so long as he should live . . . " 233 P. at 782.

Although some states by statute allow periods longer than the term of possible imprisonment, those states have some maximum stated and do not tolerate revocation after the maximum; e.g. Coleman v. Davis 106 So. 2d 79 (Fla. 1958). Further, where the judge fails to specify the period in those jurisdictions, it has been generally held to be for the maximum period for which the person could be sentenced. Coleman, supra; People ex rel. Berman v. Marsden, 162 N.Y.S. 993 (1957). For example, in Commonwealth v. Duff, 192 A. 2d 258 (Pa. 1963), the court stated:

"Therefore, when the court suspends the imposition of sentence without fixing terms of probation, it may, for proper reasons impose a prison sentence . . . if it does so within the maximum term which could have been imposed for the offense. (emphasis added) 192 A.2d at 261-62.

" . . . [W]e have considered such a suspension as containing an implied probation for the maximum period for which defendant could have been sentenced . . ." (emphasis added) 192 A.2d at 261.

Similar holdings emerge from California. In People v. Blakeman, 170 Ca. 2d 596, 339 P.2d 202 (1959) the District Court of Appeals, First District, Division 1 held that a revocation occurring eight months after probation was granted was invalid because it occurred after the maximum probationary period allowable. In Blakeman the defendant could have been sentenced to a maximum of six months. The Court there stated:

"Here, no period of probation was specified in the order granting it. Accordingly, the six months maximum period of punishment (Pen. Code, Section 243) became the period of probation. In re Herron, 217 Cal. 400, 405, 19 P.2d 4; In re Goetz, 46 Cal. App. 2d 848, 851, 117 P.2d 47; People v. Sheeley, 159 Cal. App. 2d 578, 581, 324 P.2d 65. Plaintiff argues that when the court imposed a sentence of one year (excessive by six months) and immediately suspended it, the court indicated an intent to give probation for one year. We are not persuaded, particularly in view of the established principle that when the probationary period is not specified it is deemed to be for the maximum possible period of imprisonment." 339 P.2d at 204.

The Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah has considered the question three times previously in Petitions for Writ of Habeas Corpus. In Juliette Harris v. Dewey Fille, Case No. 187877, (1969) the petitioner alleged that the court lost jurisdiction over her after six months, the maximum sentence she could have been given for the offense committed. The case file contains no findings of fact or conclusions of law, however the record of actions indicates that the Writ was granted by Judge M.C. Faux on July 18, 1969. (See appendix A).

In a second case, Charles Franklin Himes v. Delmar Larson, Civil No. 188585 (1969), petitioner alleged that the court that had revoked his probation was without jurisdiction to do so. Judge Gordon R. Hall granted the Writ on September 9, 1969, signing conclusions of law stating that at the time of revocation of petitioner's probation, the court lacked jurisdiction over him. (See appendix B).

In the third case, Elizabeth Ann Smith v. Salt Lake City Court, Civil No. 227320 (1975), the City Court had revoked petitioner's probation. Judge Stewart M. Hansen, Sr. granted the Writ and made conclusions of law stating that the maximum length of probation could not exceed the maximum period of incarceration allowable for the offense. (See appendix C).

Judge Bryant H. Croft's memorandum opinion in the instant matter places him in the minority among Third District judges on this issue. Although this writer has nothing but the highest respect for Judge Croft, his decision overlooks the case law and more persuasive arguments on the subject presented in this brief and accepted by his colleagues. Judge Croft bases his denial of appellant's decision on two grounds:<sup>2</sup>

(1) That in misdemeanor cases the maximum period of imprisonment is usually so short that a probationary period of the same length would be useless and therefore judges would give jail sentences where Probation would otherwise be proper; and

---

2. See Judge Croft's Memorandum Opinion B 74-78  
Scanned by the SO Dunes Library and made available by the Institute of Museum and Library Services  
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.  
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

(2) That the problem in (1) above is accentuated where a defendant pleads guilty to a lesser offense after having been charged with a greater offense.

Appellant believes it is extremely difficult for any one judge to determine just how long a period of probation is necessary to rehabilitate an offender. While it would seem likely that a first offender would need a lesser period than a repeat offender, such is not necessarily the case. Appellant agrees that a judge must be able to have the flexibility to deal with offenders on a case-by-case basis. To this extent, §77-35-17 grants the court the power to increase or decrease the probation period or to revoke or modify any condition of probation. Appellant sees this flexibility as essential to the rehabilitative process, however, such power must be guided by a maximum limit to the period of probation. Several states have recognized this and enacted statutes specifically limiting the probation period, as discussed earlier. In some states where no limits are prescribed, courts have placed the statutory maximum for incarceration as the limit for probation. (See e. g. State v. Lard, supra and State v. Sandoval, supra. )

Although it may well be true that some defendants cannot be rehabilitated within statutory maximums for misdemeanors, isn't it also true that the statutory maximum for imprisonment may not be long enough to alter a defendant's course of criminal conduct? All lawyers dealing with criminal cases are familiar with offenders

who have been imprisoned for statutory maximums in misdemeanor cases and then convicted again for other offenses. We may very well argue that a six month jail sentence is not enough time to rehabilitate or punish, but the important thing is that our legislature has fixed a maximum period of incarceration for both misdemeanor and felony offenses. The principle involved in probation periods is parallel. Although we may not be sure a statutory maximum sentence for imprisonment is a long enough limit for probation, our legislature has classified crimes by placing limits on penalties for those crimes. Just as some crimes are more serious than others, requiring longer maximum sentences, so too this distinction exists in the concept of rehabilitating persons convicted of those crimes. Some crimes require greater periods of rehabilitation because of their seriousness than others. In his memorandum decision, Judge Croft states that under Utah law some jail sentences cannot exceed ninety days, as for a Class C misdemeanor, "and a probationary period of such short duration hardly serves any useful purpose." However, more insight into Judge Croft's conclusion may be gained by looking at some crimes which are Class C misdemeanors.

Under Utah Code Annotated § 76-5-106 (as amended 1973), harassment is a Class C misdemeanor; under §76-6-106, Criminal Mischief where damage is below \$250 is a Class C misdemeanor; under 76-6-206, Criminal Trespass of a non-dwelling is a Class C misdemeanor. The point is simply that our legislature has determined that criminal conduct in those cases is less serious than in others, therefore, the

penalties are less serious. Although it may be argued that three months probation may not be long enough to rehabilitate a person convicted of Harassment, it may also be argued that three months in jail may not be long enough to rehabilitate or punish such person either. After three months in jail, the offender may repeat his offense or commit another offense proving that three months was not long enough. Could it then be argued that the sentencing judge should have been able to sentence the offender for a longer period, despite the legislative recognition of the low level of seriousness of such offense? Appellant thinks not and asks this court to conclude that any court's sentencing power is guided by the legislature and not open to interpretation by each individual judge, whether that judge is considering imprisonment or probation.

As to the second reason for Judge Croft's denial of appellant's motion to dismiss, appellant feels that the preceding discussion adequately represents his view on the issue. Appellant would additionally point out to the Court that our notions of Due Process of Law require that a man be punished only for the crime he has been convicted of. Judge Croft seems to imply that a defendant should be punished for having been originally charged with an offense greater than he is eventually convicted of. The implication is that a judge may be hesitant to give probation in plea-bargained cases if he is limited by the probation period in the lesser offense rather than being able to give the defendant the probation period which would



have been given if he had plead to the greater offense. Since a defendant is presumed innocent at all stages of a criminal proceeding prior to conviction, why should he be punished for an offense he was never convicted of? As this Court well knows, numerous considerations are involved in plea-bargaining, not the least of which is that prosecutors sometimes overcharge cases hoping to bring pressure upon a defendant to plead guilty to the crime he is really guilty of, and which carries a lesser penalty than the original charge. In such cases, the legislative determination as to the seriousness of the lesser offense should control a judge's power to sentence, both for imprisonment and probation.

In response to the point that judges may not accept plea bargains if the probationary period is limited to the period of imprisonment of the lesser offense, appellant would argue that if the court has that much concern then perhaps it should not accept the plea to a lesser offense anyway.

Although appellant understands Judge Croft's concern, appellant believes that the interpretation he suggests would best serve the legislative intent and the concept of Due Process of Law as discussed in Point II of this brief.

## POINT II

### THE UTAH LEGISLATURE INTENDED THAT THERE BE PROPORTIONATE LIMITS ON PROBATION POWERS OF UTAH COURTS.

As has been seen, Utah Code Annotated §77-35-17 (1953) gives the courts power to place a defendant on probation "for such period of time as the court shall determine"; but it is the position of appellant that this phraseology was not intended to give courts unlimited jurisdiction over a probationer's liberty. Appellant alleges that whatever period of time is involved must be consistent with other law on the subject. He, therefore, urges this Court to adopt the more reasonable interpretation that the legislature intended to allow for a probation period consistent with the Utah Criminal Code, and an individual's right to Due Process of Law under the Constitutions of the United States and the State of Utah, by limiting a Court's jurisdiction for probationary periods.

Jurisdiction is a common-law creature expressly embodied in both the United States and Utah Constitutions. The authority of District Courts in Utah flows from the jurisdiction granted them by the State Constitution<sup>3</sup> and legislative enactments in harmony with such grants of power. See Rocky Ford Canal Co. v. Cox, Judge, 92 U. 148, 59 P. 2d 935 (1936).

It is clear that the legislature has the power to prescribe and define the forum in which a civil or criminal matter must be commenced and therefore to set limitations on the jurisdiction of

---

3. Art. VIII Sec. 7 Constitution of Utah  
Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act administered by the Utah State Library.  
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

District Courts.<sup>4</sup> In fact, the legislative power to prescribe penalties for crimes necessarily requires a maximum period of incarceration for such crimes whether the sentences are determinate or indeterminate.<sup>5</sup>

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