1976

State of Utah v. Lawrence H. Allmendinger : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

(See Disposition in the Lower Court)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WELL WITHIN STATUTORILY PRESCRIBED LIMITS IN PLACING APPELLANT ON PROBATION FOR A YEAR.

Appellant contends that there is no statutory authority for extending probation beyond the maximum time prescribed by the legislature for imprisonment for an offense. Respondent replies that the Utah Code specifically provides for extensions of probation beyond maximum imprisonment limits. Furthermore, the Utah statute is very similar to most other state and federal statutes in this respect. The Utah law also parallels standards suggested by the

American Bar Association and the Model Penal Code. Finally, respondent submits that several very important policy considerations are satisfied by the Utah statute. Therefore, respondent asks this Court to affirm the decision of the district court.

Contrary to appellant's assertion that there is no authority for extending a probation period beyond a maximum prison sentence, the Utah Code Annotated, § 77-35-17 (1953) reads:

"Upon a plea of guilty or conviction of any crime or offense, if it appears compatible with the public interest, the court having jurisdiction may suspend the imposition of the execution of sentence and may place the defendant on probation for such period of time as the court shall determine.

The court may subsequently increase or decrease the probation period, and may revoke or modify any condition of probation." (Emphasis added)

Another section of the Utah Code, § 58-37-8(10), which deals with penalties for possessing marijuana, among other things, provides that the court may place a defendant on probation upon "any reasonable terms and conditions as may be required." Obviously, the legislature intended to give the courts a great deal of discretion in granting probation. Through these provisions the legislature provides all-

important flexibility in the administration of this humane prerogative. The court may set the duration of probation and also modify any conditions thereof. This is consistent with the overall policy of the Utah Criminal Code as expressed in Utah Code Annotated § 76-1-104 (as amended 1975):

"The provisions of this code shall be construed in accordance with these general principles: . . . (3) prescribe penalties. . . which permit recognition of difference in rehabilitation possibilities among individual offenders." (Emphasis added)

As will be demonstrated, *infra* p. 7 , there are many important reasons for a court to have broad discretion when dealing with so many different people. Numerous other states recognize this need, as their code provisions demonstrate.

Courts in Colorado, like Utah, may grant probation for whatever period as they deem best (C.R.S. § 16-11-202). Other states allow the trial court to set probation within some outside limit that has nothing to do with the possible incarceration limits. In Nevada, for example, probation may be extended for as long as five years (NRS 176.215). Hawaii, like Nevada places no less than a five year limit on probation, even for

misdemeanors (HRS, § 711-77). Oklahoma permits probation to extend up to two years (OSA 22 § 991c).

Some states have different probation period limitations depending on whether the defendant was convicted of a felony or a misdemeanor. Kansas specifies five years for felonies and two years for misdemeanors. Furthermore, felony probation may be later extended five additional years and misdemeanor probation two. The statute, however, goes on to provide that, in any case, felony probation can not be extended past the sentence limit (KSA 21-4611). Obviously the same is not true for misdemeanors. In Kansas a misdemeanant may receive only a year's incarceration (KSA 21-4502). Therefore, in Kansas, a misdemeanant may be placed on probation for up to four times (2 years original and two years extension) and still not reach the maximum sentence limit.

California is similar to that in Kansas. A misdemeanant may be placed on probation for up to two years (IC 19-2601(7)) although the maximum sentence is six months imprisonment (IC 18-113). California goes even further. In that state a misdemeanant who could only be incarcerated for 90 days may be placed on probation for as long as three years (California Penal Code, § 1203a) and People v. Heath, 72 Cal. Rptr. 457 (1968)).

Oregon has an interesting statute. In that state, a defendant may not be placed on probation for less than a year (ORS 137.010). Obviously the Oregon legislature feels that probation for less than a year is ineffective.

Of all the western states¹ only Arizona, New Mexico and Washington restrict probation by the maximum length of sentence (ARS 13-1657, NMSA 40A-29-19 and RCW 9.95.200).

Federal statutes (18 USC § 3651) provide for an extended probation period and have been supported by the United States Supreme Court in a line of cases, primary of which is Frank v. United States, 395 U.S. 147, 23 L.Ed.2d 162, 89 S.Ct. 1503 (1969). In Frank, Mr. Justice Marshall said, for the Court:

Federal and state courts do not allow significant probation to be imposed for otherwise petty offenses. For example, under federal law, most offenders may be placed on probation for up to five years in lieu of or, in certain cases, in addition to a term of imprisonment.

* * *

Therefore, the maximum penalty authorized in petty offense cases

¹ Includes Hawaii, Washington, Oregon, California, Idaho, Utah, Nevada, Arizona, Montana, Wyoming, Colorado, New Mexico, Kansas and Oklahoma.

is not simply six months imprisonment and a \$500.00 fine. A petty offender may be placed on probation for up to five years and if the terms of probation are violated, he may then be imprisoned for six months."

Finally the American Bar Association has set forth similar guidelines in its Standards for Criminal Justice. The American Bar Association suggests two years probation for a misdemeanor and up to five for a felony (Standards, p. 21 Probation). The committee adds the opinion that the limits on the length of a sentence to probation should be determined independently of the appropriate length of a prison sentence for the same offense (Standards, p. 26).

There are many good policy reasons for allowing a trial judge the discretion to extend probation for a reasonable length of time even if it may be for longer than the maximum possible sentence. In his Memorandum Decision Judge Croft of the lower court listed two strong reasons in support of probation extension. First under Utah law some jail sentences cannot exceed 90 days, as for a Class C misdemeanor (Section 76-3-204(3)). A probationary period of such limited duration hardly serves any useful purpose. As Judge Croft pointed out:

"It is misdemeanor type offenses where probation is usually indicated rather than a jail sentence, but if the supervision of such a wrongdoer is to be limited to the maximum jail sentence that can be served, probation in such cases becomes only a gesture. . . ." (R-76)

Judge Croft goes on to say:

". . . the court, when given the alternative of a short jail sentence or a short and thus useless probation period, may well start imposing jail sentences in those cases where proper probation supervision, if available, may well steer a defendant away from further criminal activity." (Id.)

Judge Croft points out a second good reason for an extended probation period:

"The second reason why I do not believe the law should or does require the limitation of a probation period as contended by defendant is that, as in the case at bar, defendants in most cases, through various motions, end up pleading to a lesser included offense, frequently doing so in the belief that a plea to the lesser offense may more likely result in consideration for probation. If courts are to be limited to a brief probation period, courts are then placed in the position of either denying the plea to a lesser included offense, or using jail sentences as the only reasonable sentence remaining open to the court. . . ." (R-76)

Probation is an attempt to give first offenders and some others a chance to demonstrate their capacity to

overcome their errors. Another reason for an extension of this program may be demonstrated by a hypothetical case. The accused is convicted and sentenced to probation and payment of a fine as provided by Utah Code Annotated § 77-35-17 (1953, as amended). Suppose the crime was a misdemeanor with a penalty of six months in jail. Further suppose the convicted man was unable to pay the fine within the six months. Under the law, as appellant would have it, the man would have to be thrown in jail. The more humane view would be to allow the trial judge the discretion to extend probation beyond the six months and give the man some additional time to make good his debt.

Respondent strongly urges this court to affirm the decision of the lower court. Appellant would seek to apply very rigid standards in an area that has a special need for discretion. A judge, viewing the defendant face to face, hearing discussion from both sides concerning the defendant, and receiving reports from adult probation and parole is in a much better position to evaluate the needs of an individual than is the legislature. The legislature realized all this and thus specifically and unequivocally endowed the trial court with broad discretion which respondent asks this court to sustain.

Appellant alleges that there is ample authority for his position that probation should be limited by statutory sentencing provisions. Respondent answers that most of appellant's proffered authority is misapplied and inapplicable to the instant question. The remainder simply demonstrates the minority view.

Appellant said the general rule is stated in 21 Am. Jur. 2d Criminal Law, § 555 (p.4 of Appellant's brief).

"Where the suspension of imposition of sentence is authorized, the court . . . may, after such suspension, pronounce sentence at any time provided the maximum period for which sentence could have been imposed or probation granted has not elapsed."

A close reading of the rule, however, and of the case cited as supporting the rule demonstrate that ". . . maximum period . . . sentence could have been imposed . . ." means the statutory period after conviction in which the court must pronounce sentence. It has absolutely nothing to do with the sentence actually imposed or maximum possible sentences. In other words, the rule simply states that a court can't wait forever to impose some kind of sentence, whether it is imprisonment or probation. The rule has nothing to do with how long probation may continue if it is imposed.

On page six of his brief appellant cites In re Carroll, a Kansas case, as authority for his position. Respondent has already shown that Kansas law allows probation to continue for up to four times the maximum incarceration period in the case of a misdemeanor. If Carroll were still good law there would be a contradiction. Carroll, however, is a 1914 case and has long since been overturned by legislative action. In Application of Young, 201 Kan. 140, 439 P.2d 142 (1968), the Supreme Court of Kansas explains:

"The parole authority of a police court was considered in Carroll. The statute then in effect (Laws of 1909, Chap. 116, Sec. 2) was examined and since it provided no limit on the term of a parole granted thereunder, this court held that a police court had no power to grant a parole for a term longer than the sentence imposed. . . . The statute amended in 1917. . . under which a police court is specifically authorized to grant a parole for a term extending beyond the sentence. . .

* * *

The language of K.S.A. 20-2312 is plain and unambiguous. . . . The statute supercedes any case law pertaining to the subject. (43P P.2d at 143, 145)

Appellant relies heavily on Idaho cases in his argument, particular State v. Sandoval, 92 Idaho 853, 452 P.2d 350 (1969), and Ex Parte Medley, 73 Idaho

474, 253 P.2d 794 (1953). Respondent contends that neither case applies here. In Idaho, although probation can be four times longer than imprisonment for a misdemeanor, the rule is different for felonies where probation is limited by the maximum period of incarceration. Both the Sandoval and Medley decisions involve felony convictions and not a misdemeanor conviction as in the instant case. Obviously therefore, neither case is authority for appellant's position.

Appellant further cites the Oklahoma case of Ex Parte Eaton, 29 Okla. Crim. 275, 233 P.781 (1925). Suffice it to say that the pertinent Oklahoma statute has been revised. Subsequent to 1970 the law in Oklahoma is that a probation period may be for as long as two years (OSA 22 § 991c (1970)).

People v. [illegible], 170 Ca.2d 596, 339 P.2d 202 (1959), a California case, is also unavailable to appellant as authority. That case simply states that if no probation period is specified by the judge, the maximum prison term becomes the period of probation. It does not stand for the proposition, as implied by appellant, that probation could not be longer. In fact, the California courts have upheld a three year probation period in a case where the maximum sentence was 90 days. (People v. Heath, 72 Cal. Rptr. 457, 266 C.A.2d 754 (1968)).

The only other authority cited by appellant is State v. Lard, 86 N.M. 71, 519 P.2d 307 (1974). Respondent admits that in New Mexico a convicted person may not be placed on probation for a longer period than he may be imprisoned. However, respondent points out that New Mexico along with Arizona and Washington are the only three (out of fourteen) western states that so hold. Respondent submits that Utah should maintain its position among those states that espouse the majority view.

Appellant is correct, in his report of the case law on the subject, that when the trial court fails to specify the period of probation it is generally held to be the same as the maximum sentence period. This is not a case, however, of an unspecified probation period. The trial court very specifically sentenced appellant to one year probation. Thereafter appellant very specifically accepted that sentence.

POINT II

THE UTAH LEGISLATURE DID NOT INTEND THAT PROBATION BE LIMITED BY SENTENCE PROVISIONS.

In his second argument appellant goes to great and imaginative lengths in attempting to prove that the Utah legislature, although not specifically so stating, meant for probation periods to be limited by the incarceration provisions of the Code. Respondent submits that a

simple reading of the statute is more than sufficient to convey the legislative intent. As shown, supra, the Utah legislature very clearly, and with great supporting intent, meant for trial judges to have wide discretion in probation matters. In interpreting statutes the court should assume that each word of a statute was used advisedly and should be given application in accord with their usually accepted meaning (Grant v. Utah State Land Board, 26 Utah 2d 100, 485 P.2d 1035 (1971)). Respondent submits that the following words are very clear:

"Upon a plea of guilty or conviction. . . the Court having jurisdiction. . . may place the defendant on probation for such period of time as the court shall determine." (Utah Code Annotated § 77-35-17 (1953))
(Emphasis added)

Respondent argues that probation is a penalty and not a privilege. This is exactly backwards of the truth. When a man commits a crime and is adjudged to be guilty he can be sentenced to serve a time in jail or prison. That would be the penalty for his actions. Thereafter, as a privilege, granted for whatever humane reasons, the court may allow that man to be placed on probation in lieu of incarceration. Furthermore, respondent asks this court to take judicial notice that any reasonable

man would prefer as much as three years probation to one year in prison confinement. Obviously appellant feels this way since he choose, voluntarily and of his own accord, one year's probation rather than six months in jail.

Finally, appellant argues that a defendant has certain rights while on probation. Respondent stipulates as much. However, all of the "forward looking due process concepts" under Morrissey v. Brewer and all other cases cited by appellant, have absolutely nothing to do with the length of probation. This is not a case where the issue is a revocation hearing, notice, speedy trial, written findings, or any of the other Morrissey requirements. The Utah legislature may make the law on length of probation and they have wisely chosen to grant the judge the discretion to solve that problem.

CONCLUSION

Since there is specific statutory authority supporting the decision of the lower court, and since Utah's statutes are very similar to those of most other states, respondent urges this court to affirm the decision of the lower court. Such affirmation would carry out the intent of the legislature of Utah.